#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

02-27-2017

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2015AP1294-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-vs.-

LEWIS O. FLOYD, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION AFFIRMING THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION FILED ON MARCH 19, 2014, AND THE ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF FILED ON JUNE 11, 2015, IN THE RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ALLAN TORHORST, PRESIDING.

RACINE COUNTY CASE NO. 2013-CF-982

### DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

#### Respectfully submitted:

LAW OFFICE OF MATTHEW S. PINIX, LLC
1200 East Capitol Drive, Suite 220

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. Whether the deputy's warrantless patdown search of Lewis Floyd was unconstitutional where: (a) the reasonable suspicion to justify the search was based on the presence of air fresheners Floyd's car, legally tinted windows on Floyd's car, and because the deputy initiated the stop in an alleged high-crime area; and (b) if there was a lack of reasonable suspicion, whether Floyd's consent to the pat-down was involuntary because the deputy impermissibly extended the traffic stop to request an invasive pat-down search?

The Court of Appeals concluded that: (a) the deputy's request for the pat-down occurred during a valid seizure, and even if it briefly prolonged the stop, the deputy had reasonable suspicion to investigate criminal activity; and (b) the circumstances of the stop did not otherwise render Floyd's consent involuntary. Thus, the court answered the aforementioned question no.

II. Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to present additional evidence concerning the lack of consent, specifically that another officer at the scene agreed that his report accurately indicated that the primary officer who interacted with Floyd had advised Floyd that he would be searched, as opposed to the primary officer's testimony that he asked Floyd if he could pat him down?

The Court of Appeals concluded that counsel was not ineffective where counsel testified he was satisfied with the record as it was and feared additional evidence might be damaging, and in addition, the second officer's testimony was not helpful to Floyd because it simply corroborated the primary officer's testimony. Thus, the court answered the aforementioned question no.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Where the instant case merits this Court's review, both oral argument and publication of the Court's opinion are warranted.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 1, 2013, the State charged Lewis Floyd with a second and subsequent offense of possession with intent to deliver a controlled substance, a second and subsequent offense of possession with intent to deliver marijuana, and two related counts of misdemeanor bail jumping. (5:1-2). The charges were based on evidence obtained from Floyd during a traffic stop. (1:1-3).

#### Motion to suppress evidence

Trial counsel filed a motion to suppress the evidence, which contended that the evidence obtained was the result of a search that violated Floyd's rights guaranteed under the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions. (7:1-9); (8:1-6). The following facts were presented at that hearing.

On July 23, 2013, around 6:45 p.m., Lewis Floyd was driving along Racine Street in the city of Racine. (25:3-4, 13; App. 22-23, 32). Floyd stopped at the traffic light in the area of 16th and Racine. (25:3-4; App. 22-23). At the time of the stop, there was still daylight. (25:14; App. 33).

Deputy Ruffalo was stopped at the same intersection, which Ruffalo later described as near a "major intersection." (25:3; App. 22). Ruffalo had six years of experience as an officer. (25:7; App. 26). The majority of Ruffalo's duties at the time involved executing traffic stops. (25:7; App. 26).

While they were stopped at the intersection, Deputy Ruffalo, without observing any wrongdoing, "ran" the vehicle's plate through the computer in his squad car. (25:4; App. 23). Ruffalo noted that the registration for the car was suspended due to emissions. (25:4; App. 23). Ruffalo decided to stop the vehicle, and did so about one block later, by 15th and Racine. (25:4; App. 23).

Deputy Ruffalo approached Floyd and explained that the reason for the stop was due to the suspended registration on the car. (25:4-5; App. 23-24). Ruffalo asked for Floyd's license and insurance information. (25:5; App. 24). Floyd replied that he did not have either, but he did hand Ruffalo his Wisconsin State identification. (25:5, 14; App. 24, 33). Ruffalo told Floyd to stay in the car and that he would return shortly. (25:5; App. 24). Ruffalo testified that this interaction lasted about two to three minutes. (25:14; App. 33).

Although he did not mention it in his initial report regarding the stop, Deputy Ruffalo noticed that inside Floyd's car there were air fresheners "in every vent" and hanging from the rear view mirror. (25:6-7, 13; App. 25-26, 32). Ruffalo testified that in his experience the presence of multiple air fresheners was an indicator that a person was involved in drugrelated activity because it is used to mask the smell of narcotics. (25:7; App. 26). Ruffalo admitted that he did not take photographs of the air fresheners. (25:12; App. 31).

At the suppression hearing, Deputy Ruffalo agreed that he did not smell any controlled substances. (25:13; App. 32). He did not testify that he smelled any air fresheners either. He did not see any packaging materials in the car or any user paraphernalia. (25:13; App. 32). Ruffalo also agreed that he did not see Floyd make any furtive

movements. (25:13; App. 32). He also did not see any indication that Floyd had weapons. (25:18; App. 37).

In spite of this, Deputy Ruffalo went to his squad car and asked dispatch if a canine unit was available and if not, whether a "cover squad" could come. (25:5; App. 24). The dispatcher informed Ruffalo that a canine unit was not available and that a patrol officer would arrive instead as his cover. (25:6; App. 25).

Officer White arrived at the scene to serve as the requested "cover squad." (25:6; App. 25); (28:10). Deputy Ruffalo explained to White why he stopped Floyd's car. (25:6; App. 25). Ruffalo also explained that he wanted to have Floyd exit the car because he "had some indications that there might be some criminal activity going on in the vehicle as well as explain the citations to him." (25:6; App. 25). The traffic citations were for operating a car without insurance, operating a car after suspension, and non-registration of the car. (28:3; App. 22). Ruffalo entered information into his computer and created the citations. (25:5, 6, 17; App. 24, 25, 36).

After about five or six minutes, Deputy Ruffalo walked back to Floyd's car to explain the citations to Floyd. (25:5, 17; App. 24, 36). Ruffalo had Floyd to step out of the car. (25:15; App. 34). Floyd did. (25:15). Ruffalo asked Floyd if he had any weapons or anything that would hurt him (Ruffalo). (25:8, 15; App. 27, 34). Floyd said no. (25:8; App. 27).

Despite Floyd's answer, and although Deputy Ruffalo did not see Floyd do anything furtive, Ruffalo decided to ask if he could pat Floyd down. (25:8, 13; App. 27, 32). At the suppression hearing, Ruffalo declared that he "assume[s] everybody has a weapon, everyone I come in contact with." (25:18; App. 37). Therefore, he searches everyone he comes in contact with who steps out of their car. (25:17-18; App. 36-

37). In fact, Ruffalo testified that the first thing he does when he has someone exit a car is ask if he can search them. (25:17; App. 36). Ruffalo testified that he was not going to explain citations to Floyd and then ask if he can search him. (25:17; App. 36).

With Floyd's identification card and three citations still in Deputy Ruffalo's hand, Ruffalo asked Floyd if he could search him for Ruffalo's safety, and he testified that Floyd said "yes, go ahead." (25:8, 15; App. 27, 34). Ruffalo agreed that Floyd was not free to leave at that time because "the stop had not been finished yet." (25:15; App. 34).

Deputy Ruffalo testified that he patted Floyd down "just over his outer clothing," and when he reached his groin area he felt something that resembled a bag wedged between his legs. (25:8; App. 27). Ruffalo believed that the item was possibly narcotics. (25:9; App. 28). After much difficulty, including multiple attempts by Ruffalo, a call to supervisor about what to do, and the assistance of a knife, the item was eventually dislodged. (25:9-11; App. 28-31). The item was a bag that contained a small amount of marijuana and 15 pills of Vicodin. (25:12; App. 31); (1:2).

At the hearing, when asked if the only thing that led Deputy Ruffalo to believe that Floyd could be involved in illegal activity was the air fresheners, Ruffalo said, "That was an indicator, yes." (25:23; App. 42).

The prosecutor asked Deputy Ruffalo to describe the area of the traffic stop. (25:20-21; App. 39-40). Ruffalo said the area was a block away was major intersection and the main business right there was S.C. Johnson Wax. (25:21; App. 40). The prosecutor then asked Ruffalo if large quantities of drug activity and gang activity take place there, and Ruffalo said "yes" to both questions. (25:21; App. 40).

Ruffalo also said that other factors were the time of day, that Floyd was in the car by himself, and he believed that Floyd's car had tinted windows. (25:23; App. 42). There was no indication or claim that the window tint exceeded legal levels.

Deputy Ruffalo agreed that although it was a "high- crime area," Floyd's identification indicated that he lived in Kenosha. (25:22; App. 41). Ruffalo admitted that he had no way of knowing whether Floyd was associated at all with any of the alleged criminal activity in the area. (25:22-23; App. 41-42).

After hearing argument, the circuit court Deputy Ruffalo had reasonable reasoned that suspicion that there were drugs in the car, otherwise he would not have asked for the canine unit. (25:29: App. 48). The court concluded that Ruffalo had suspicion of drug activity based on fact that there were air fresheners that were all over the place, Floyd's car had tinted windows, the time of day, that Floyd was alone, that Floyd was from Kenosha, and "another one." (25:29, 30; App. 48, 49). The court held that the stop was not over when Ruffalo asked Floyd to get out of the car and for consent to search him, which Floyd gave. (25:30, 31-32; App. 49, 50-51). The court ultimately denied the motion to suppress. (25:32; App. 52).

#### Plea and sentencing

Floyd entered a plea of no-contest to possession of non-narcotics with intent to deliver, and in exchange the State agreed to dismiss the two bail jumping charges and the possession of marijuana with intent to deliver. (10:2); (27-A1:7). The circuit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The record has two items labeled as #27. The first instance, corresponding to the transcript for proceedings on 1/6/14, is labeled by counsel as 27-A. The second instance, corresponding to the transcript for proceedings on 3/18/14, is label by counsel as 27-B. Given the minimal

court sentenced Floyd to three years initial confinement and three years extended supervision, but withheld that sentence pending three years of probation. (15:1-3; App. 53-55); (27-B<sup>2</sup>:15-16).

#### Postconviction proceedings

In his postconviction motion, Floyd argued that his counsel rendered ineffective assistance by not presenting certain evidence at the suppression hearing. (19:7-17). In his police report, the cover officer, Officer White, wrote that Deputy Ruffalo "advised," Floyd he was going to search him when he exited the vehicle, as opposed to asking Floyd. (19:20-21). Trial counsel included this important fact in the motion to suppress but did not call White to testify at the hearing on the motion. (7:2-3).

Floyd argued that counsel was ineffective for not calling Officer White as a witness because it would have contradicted Deputy Ruffalo's testimony that he obtained consent from Floyd. (19:9-17). Of course, if the court had this evidence, which contradicted Ruffalo's testimony on the consent issue, there was a reasonable probability of a different outcome. (19:11-16).

At the hearing on Floyd's motion, trial counsel testified that he did not call Officer White because he was content with the record that he already had without White's testimony. (28:5-6). Moreover, he was afraid it would damage his case if he called White to testify. (28:5-6). Counsel did not explain why or how this damage might occur.

At the postconviction motion hearing, Officer White testified that he assisted Deputy Ruffalo with

citation to either item, counsel decided it was easier to label them as 27-A and 27-B in this brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See footnote 1.

his traffic stop of Floyd. (28:10). White testified that when he arrived, Ruffalo told him that he had stopped Floyd because of traffic citations. (28:10). He did not recall Ruffalo saying anything about a suspicion of drug activity. (28:11).

White testified that he observed Deputy Ruffalo go to Floyd's car and asked Floyd to exit the car. (28:11). Floyd complied. (28:11). Officer White testified that he did not have a clear recollection of what Ruffalo said exactly. (28:14). He testified that Ruffalo asked him if he could perform an external pat-down. (28:13-14). But White also testified that his report, written shortly after the incident, indicating that Ruffalo "advised" Floyd about the consent, was accurate. (28:14).

The circuit court concluded that trial counsel was not ineffective regarding his representation at the hearing on the motion to suppress. (28:27-28; App. 56-57). The court found that counsel chose not to call Officer White because he was satisfied with the testimony that he had from Deputy Ruffalo. (28:28; App. 57). Moreover, considering White's testimony, he corroborated Ruffalo's testimony anyway. (28:28-29; App. 57-58). The court denied the motion. (28:30; App. 59). Floyd appealed. (21:1-3).

#### **Proceedings in the Court of Appeals**

Floyd raised the same issues on appeal. State v. Floyd, 2016 WI App 64, ¶1, \_ Wis.2d \_, \_ N.W.2d \_ (App. 1-2) (hereinafter "Opinion").

Regarding the illegality of the stop and search, the court of appeals stated that Deputy Ruffalo did not extend the traffic stop by asking Floyd to exit the car. *Opinion* at ¶¶11-12 (App. 6). While describing it as "a very close call," the court nonetheless held that the deputy had a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity because the officer observed several air fresheners in the car, the car windows were tinted,

and the officer pulled Floyd over in a high-crime area. *Opinion* at ¶¶16-17 (App. 8-10). The court found that the officer had reasonable suspicion to ask and then search Floyd, all while the valid traffic stop was still ongoing. *Opinion* at ¶17 (App. 10). The court further found that while Floyd was lawfully detained, his consent to the search was voluntary. *Opinion* at ¶¶19-20 (App. 11-12).

The court also concluded that Floyd's counsel was not ineffective by failing to present the additional evidence concerning consent, adopting the reasons given by the circuit court. *Opinion* at ¶¶26-27 (App. 15).

In a powerful concurrence, Presiding Justice Reilly stated that "given the law we are obligated to follow" he supported the majority opinion, but concluded that the law followed in this case resulted in justifying "improper means" to accomplish the ends. *Opinion* at ¶28 (App. 17). The concurrence voiced the concern that Floyd was a young black male and that the judicial system has "tacitly accepted, condoned, and blessed the profiling of our citizens by taking age and color of skin into the 'objectively reasonable suspicion' test." *Opinion* at ¶¶30-31 (App. 17-18). The concurrence reasoned that the outcome would be different had this involved a "white, suburban, soccer mom from Kenosha." *Opinion* at ¶30 (App. 17).

After Floyd's motion for reconsideration was denied, he petitioned for review with this Court. (A. 19).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE EVIDENCE AGAINST FLOYD SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED WHERE THE PAT-DOWN SEARCH BY THE DEPUTY WAS DONE IN THE ABSENCE OF AN OBJECTIVELY REASONABLE SUSPICION THAT FLOYD WAS ENGAGED IN CRIMINAL ACTIVITY, AND THAT ILLEGAL SEARCH WAS NOT CURED BY CONSENT WHERE THE DEPUTY ILLEGALLY PROLONGED AND EXPLOITED THE TRAFFIC STOP TO CONDUCT THAT SEARCH.

The Wisconsin Constitution and United States Constitution both guarantee the right of persons to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. Amend. IV: Wis. Const. Art. I, § 11. These protections for citizens from fundamental government prohibit exactly the type of conduct that occurred in this case. Floyd was cooperative, did nothing suspicions, and answered the deputy he was not armed. (25:8, 13, 18; App. 27, 32, 37). Yet without the reasonable suspicion deputy deliberately disregarded Floyd's (honest) answer about weapons. and prolonged the end of an otherwise routine traffic stop by withholding Floyd's identification card and citations, to request an intrusive pat-down search. See Rodriguez v. United States, 575 U.S. \_\_, 135 S.Ct. 1609, 1612, 1614 (2015); and State v. Hogan, 2015 WI 76, ¶¶34-37, 364 Wis.2d 167, 868 N.W.2d 124; and State v. Luebeck, 2006 WI App 87, ¶¶7, 16-17, 292 Wis.2d 748, 715 N.W.2d 639.

Moreover, the deputy candidly admitted that he searches everyone that steps out of their car during a traffic stop. (25:17-18; App. 36-37). The deputy's clearly unparticularized, blanket approach to searching people, which he acted upon when he asked if he could pat Floyd down, was not constitutional. *See Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968); *State v. Mohr*, 2000 WI App 111,

 $\P$ ¶12, 15, 235 Wis.2d 220, 613 N.W.2d 186 (citations omitted).

The court of appeals concluded that, even if there was an extension of the stop, Deputy Ruffalo was entitled to do so because there was an objectively reasonable suspicion that Floyd was involved in criminal activity. *Opinion* at ¶¶12, 16-17 (App. 6, 8-10). But the combination of air fresheners, legally tinted windows, and because Ruffalo chose to stop Floyd in what the State referred to as a "high crime area," fall far below what courts consider an objectively reasonable suspicion, especially where Floyd was cooperative and did nothing suspicious. *Compare State v. Malone*, 2004 WI 108, ¶¶36-39, 274 Wis.2d 540, 683 N.W.2d 1; *and State v. Allen*, 226 Wis.2d 66, 68, 75, 593 N.W.2d 504 (Ct. App. 1999).

For these reasons, Floyd's appeals the denial of his motion to suppress. When the defendant seeks to suppress evidence taken during a warrantless search, the State bears the burden in the trial court to show by clear and convincing evidence that the search was nonetheless reasonable and constitutional. State v. Kieffer, 217 Wis.2d 531, 541-42, 577 N.W.2d 352 (1998). On appeal, whether the trial court properly upheld a warrantless search is a question of constitutional fact. State v. Johnson, 2007 WI 32, ¶13, 299 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182. The trial court's factual findings are upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Williams, 2001 WI 21, ¶18, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. The trial court's decision over whether the State met its burden that the search was constitutionally justified is a legal determination that is reviewed de novo. Williams, 2001 WI 21, ¶18.

A *de novo* review of this record shows Deputy Ruffalo's lacked the necessary reasonable suspicion to go beyond the mission of the traffic stop by requesting an invasive pat-down search when the stop should have already ended. *Rodriguez*, 575 U.S. \_\_\_, 135 S.Ct. at 1614. Moreover, the record shows that Floyd's consent was not voluntary, where in the absence of any suspicion, the deputy withheld Floyd's documents to prevent the stop from terminating in order to procure Floyd's agreement to the pat-down. *Luebeck*, 2006 WI App 87, ¶¶16-17. Consequently, this Court should reverse the court of appeals upholding of the circuit court's denial of Floyd's motion to suppress.

A. The totality of the circumstances show that any suspicion the Floyd was involved in criminal activity was not objectively reasonable, where it lacked the necessary individualized particularity.

A traffic stop is a seizure subject to the strictures of the Fourth Amendment. *Knowles v. Iowa*, 525 U.S. 113, 117, 119 S.Ct. 484 (1998). When an officer observes a traffic violation, the officer is justified in seizing the person to investigate that violation. *Rodriguez*, 575 U.S. \_\_, 135 S.Ct. 1609, 1614. But during a traffic stop, an officer must adhere to the mission of the stop, and can prolong the stop to pursue an investigation into other matters only when that departure is supported by reasonable suspicion. *Rodriguez*, 575 U.S. \_\_, 135 S.Ct. at 1614; *Hogan*, 2015 WI 76, ¶34.

A reasonable suspicion must be grounded in specific, articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts, that the individual is involved in illegal activity. *Malone*, 2004 WI 108, ¶35 (citations omitted). A suspicion may still be reasonable even if it does not rule out innocent behavior. *State v. Gordon*, 2014 WI App 44, ¶13, 353 Wis.2d 468, 846 N.W.2d 483. But suspicion is not reasonable when it amounts to nothing more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch. *Terry v. Ohio*,

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