## RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN **11-25-2015**

#### COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT II

#### Case No. 2015AP1294-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LEWIS O. FLOYD, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ALLAN TORHORST, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SANDRA L. TARVER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011578

Attorneys for Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. The trial court correctly denied Floyd's motion to suppress.

#### A. Summary of argument.

Floyd argues that Officer Ruffalo violated the Fourth Amendment when he searched Floyd after initiating a traffic stop for suspended registration. Floyd contends that the search was unlawful because Officer Ruffalo lacked reasonable suspicion that Floyd was armed and dangerous. Floyd's brief at 10-17. Floyd also argues that any consent on his part could not have been voluntary as a matter of law because, among other reasons, he was not free to leave when his consent was obtained. Floyd's brief at 17-19.

The State proved that Floyd voluntarily consented to the search and that, as a result, the search was wholly valid under the Fourth Amendment. A traffic stop can be extended and a new investigation can begin if the police officer objectively believes that there is a reasonable suspicion that a person is engaged in illegal activity separate and distinct from the behavior that prompted the stop. Once he made contact with Floyd, the totality of the circumstances known to Officer Ruffalo provided objectively reasonable suspicion that Floyd was involved in drug activity. As a result, Officer Ruffalo had lawful authority to detain Floyd for the purpose of investigation when Floyd consented to the search.

The fact that Floyd was detained at the time of consent does not render his consent involuntary as a matter of law. Nor was his consent rendered involuntary through coercion, threats, or other improper influences. For these reasons alone, this court should affirm the trial court's denial of Floyd's motion to suppress. Even if the police searched Floyd without his consent, the search did not violate the Fourth Amendment. The totality of the circumstances demonstrates reasonable suspicion that Floyd might be armed and dangerous. Although the trial court did not deny Floyd's motion on this ground, it easily could have. *See Milton v. Washburn Cty.*, 2011 WI App 48, ¶ 8 n.5, 332 Wis. 2d 319, 797 N.W.2d 924 ("if a circuit court reaches the right result for the wrong reason, we will nevertheless affirm"). This court can and should affirm on this ground alone.

#### B. The facts.

Officer Ruffalo testified at the suppression hearing that he pulled over Floyd for suspended registration at about 6:45 p.m. on July 23, 2013 (25:3-4, 13). The stop occurred one block from a high-crime intersection known to the officer for the prevalence of drug and gang activity (25:3-4, 20-21). Floyd's vehicle had tinted windows (25:23).

When Officer Ruffalo made contact with Floyd, he observed an unusual number of air fresheners in Floyd's vehicle (25:7). Air fresheners were "in every vent of the vehicle as well as hanging off the rear view mirror" (25:6-7). Officer Ruffalo testified that, based on his experience, persons involved in drug-related activity use air fresheners to mask the smell of narcotics (25:7). Officer Ruffalo returned to his squad and requested a canine unit or a backup squad (25:5). A patrol officer arrived within two minutes (25:20).

After the patrol officer arrived, Officer Ruffalo asked Floyd to exit the vehicle (25:6, 8). At that point, which was within five or six minutes of his initial contact with Floyd, Officer Ruffalo asked Floyd whether he had any weapons (25:8). Floyd said that he did not (25:8). Officer Ruffalo then asked Floyd if the officer could search him for the officer's safety (25:8). Floyd said, "[Y]es, go ahead" (25:8). Floyd moved to suppress all evidence derived from Officer's Ruffalo's search (7). At the suppression hearing, the prosecutor opposed the suppression motion on the ground that Floyd consented to the search:

First of all, I would note that there are -- there's two kinds of consent. There is the consent when the officer has no reasonable suspicion that the person inside is involved in any type of criminal activity. And for that type of consent, you have to finish the traffic stop, give the defendant their citations and tell them that they are free to leave before you can ask for consent. But when you have reasonable suspicion you look at whether the questions unreasonably expanded the scope of the stop. And based upon the officer's observations, he simply asked Mr. Floyd if he had any weapons, Mr. Floyd said no and he asked for consent to search Mr. Floyd. Mr. Floyd said yes. And everything else flows from a search that was done with Mr. Floyd's consent. Therefore, I would ask that the motion be denied.

(25:25).

The trial court found that, once the officer made initial contact with Floyd, the officer had reasonable suspicion that Floyd was involved in drug activity (25:29-30). The court further found that the officer asked to search Floyd and that Floyd gave his consent (25:30, 32). The court denied the suppression motion accordingly and without deciding whether the circumstances provided reasonable suspicion that Floyd was armed and dangerous (25:32).

C. Floyd voluntarily consented to the search while he was lawfully detained based on reasonable suspicion of drug activity.

#### 1. Applicable law and standard of review.

One well-established exception to the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment is a search conducted pursuant to consent:

Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment. *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967). But there are certain "specifically established and well-delineated" exceptions to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement. *Id.* Included among these exceptions are searches conducted pursuant to voluntarily given consent. *Id.* at 358; *State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d 180, 196, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998).

A "search authorized by consent is wholly valid" under the Fourth Amendment. *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 222 (1973). Consent searches are standard, accepted investigative devices used in law enforcement, and are not in any general sense constitutionally suspect. *Id.* at 231-32, 243.

*State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 94, ¶¶ 18-19, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834 (footnote omitted).

"When the purported legality of a warrantless search is based on the consent of the defendant, that consent must be freely and voluntarily given." *See State v. Johnson*, 2007 WI 32, ¶ 16, 299 Wis. 2d 675, 729 N.W.2d 182, citing *State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d 180, 197, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998). The State has the burden to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant voluntarily consented. *Id*. Unless a person is illegally seized when he gives consent, a search authorized by voluntary consent is wholly valid. *State v. Jones*, 2005 WI App 26, ¶ 9, 278 Wis. 2d 774, 693 N.W.2d 104, citing *Williams*, 255 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 19-20.

A law enforcement officer is justified in detaining an individual if the officer has suspicions grounded in specific articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts that the individual is engaged in criminal activity. *State v. Guzy*, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 675-76, 407 N.W.2d 548 (1987). If the police officer has reasonable suspicion that a person is engaged in illegal activity separate and distinct from the behavior that prompted a traffic stop, the stop can be extended and a new investigation can begin. *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25, ¶¶ 11, 13, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394.

Voluntariness of consent is a question of constitutional fact. *Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d at 195. Whether consent was given and the scope of the consent are questions of fact that an appellate court will not overturn unless clearly erroneous. *Id.; see also State v. Garcia,* 195 Wis. 2d 68, 75, 535 N.W.2d 124 (Ct. App. 1995). However, an appellate court will independently apply the constitutional principles to the facts as found to determine whether the standard of voluntariness has been met. *Phillips,* 218 Wis. 2d at 195.

- 2. Floyd was lawfully detained at the time he consented to the search.
  - a. Officer Ruffalo had reasonable suspicion that Floyd was involved in drug activity.

The totality of the facts known to Officer Ruffalo at the time of the consent search provide objectively reasonable suspicion that Floyd was involved in illegal activity separate and distinct from the traffic violation that prompted the stop. In evaluating reasonable suspicion, the court must examine whether all the facts, when taken together, could constitute reasonable suspicion. *State v. Allen*, 226 Wis. 2d 66, 75-76, 593 N.W.2d 504 (Ct. App 1999). What constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common-sense test under all the facts and circumstances present. *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 56, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). Although a hunch is insufficient to justify a reasonable suspicion detention, the detention can be justified if a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct can be objectively discerned by observing lawful, but suspicious conduct, notwithstanding other innocent inferences that can be drawn. *Id.* at 60.

While the trial court's findings of facts are upheld unless clearly erroneous, the circumstances as to whether a detention meets constitutional standards is a question of law this court reviews de novo. *State v. Gammons,* 2001 WI App 36, ¶ 6, 241 Wis. 2d 296, 625 N.W.2d 623.

Here, Officer Ruffalo observed an unusual number of air fresheners in Floyd's vehicle. Ruffalo testified that there were air fresheners "in every vent of the vehicle as well as hanging off the rear view mirror" (25:6). He stated that, based upon his experience, air fresheners in that amount are used by people involved in drug-related activity to mask the smell of narcotics (25:7).

Officer Ruffalo also testified that the stop occurred at the intersection of 15th Street and Racine Street (25:4), within one block of an intersection known for high levels of drug and gang activity (25:21). He testified that the number of air fresheners that he observed in Floyd's vehicle was an indicator that Floyd might be involved in illegal activity (25:23). He testified that other factors indicating possible involvement in illegal activity

were the time of day, that Floyd was traveling alone, and that Floyd's car had tinted windows (25:23).

The trial court correctly found that all of these factors provided reasonable suspicion that Floyd may have been involved in drug activity (25:30). *See Allen*, 226 Wis. 2d at 74-75. The trial court noted that Officer Ruffalo suspected that Floyd was involved with drugs because, in Ruffalo's experience, air fresheners are used by people involved with drugs to mask odors that the drugs may emit in a closed space (25:29). Indeed, Floyd does not dispute the court's conclusion that Officer Ruffalo had reasonable suspicion of possible drug activity when he asked for Floyd's consent to search. Floyd's brief at 10-19.

Given that Officer Ruffalo had reasonable suspicion on the basis of which to detain Floyd at the time of his consent, this court should affirm the trial court's denial of Floyd's motion to suppress so long as it determines that Floyd's consent was voluntary as a matter of law. For the reasons explained below, Floyd's consent was voluntary.

# b. Floyd voluntarily consented to the search.

Floyd claims that he did not voluntarily consent to the search because Officer Ruffalo had not ended the traffic stop and, thus, Floyd was not free to leave when the officer requested consent. Floyd's brief at 17-19. He argues that Officer Ruffalo "was going to perform the search no matter what" and that Floyd was not free to leave "until Ruffalo did the search that he wanted to do." Floyd's brief at 18. According to Floyd, his consent "was not valid because the circumstances show that a person in Floyd's brief at 18.

The State met its burden to show that Floyd voluntarily consented to the search. Whether consent to search is voluntary hinges on whether the consent was given in the absence of duress or coercion, either express or implied. *Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d at 197. Factors relevant to the voluntariness analysis include whether any misrepresentation, deception, or trickery was used to persuade the defendant to consent; whether the defendant was threatened or physically intimidated; the condition at the time the search was made; the defendant's response to the officer's request; the defendant's physical and emotional condition and prior experience with police; and whether the officers informed the individual that consent could be withheld. Id. at 198-203. The state must prove by clear and convincing evidence that consent is freely and voluntarily given. *Id.* at 197. There is no presumption that consent to search given by an arrested person is involuntary and coerced as a matter of law. Gautreaux v. State, 52 Wis. 2d 489, 492-93, 190 N.W.2d 542 (1971).

There is no suggestion of deception, threats, or physical intimidation in this case. *See State v. Bermudez*, 221 Wis. 2d 338, 349, 585 N.W.2d 628 (Ct. App. 1998). There is nothing in the record to suggest that Officer Ruffalo brandished weapons or threatened or coerced Floyd in any manner into consenting to the search. Officer Ruffalo clearly asked Floyd for permission to search, and Floyd clearly gave that permission without any qualification (25:8).

Floyd incorrectly claims that his consent was not valid because, under the circumstances of his case, a reasonable person would not feel free to leave or to decline the request to search. Floyd's brief at 17-19. To support his argument, Floyd relies on *State v. Luebeck*, 2006 WI App 87, 292 Wis. 2d 748, 715 N.W.2d 639, and *Jones*, 278 Wis. 2d 774. Floyd's brief at 18-19.

Neither *Luebeck* nor *Jones* applies. In both cases, the defendants had been *illegally* seized when asked for consent to search and, thus, their consent was invalid. *Luebeck*, 292 Wis. 2d 748, ¶ 17; *Jones*, 278 Wis. 2d 774, ¶¶ 18-22. In the present case, Floyd was *legally* detained when asked whether he would consent to be searched. Neither *Jones* nor *Luebeck* stands for the proposition that a defendant who has been legally detained is incapable as a matter of law of giving voluntary consent to search.

*Jones* involved a police procedure colloquially known as a Badger Stop—"a police interdiction technique by which the officer attempts to obtain the person's consent to a search even though the officer has no legal basis to further detain the person." *Jones*, 278 Wis. 2d 774, ¶ 4; *see also Williams*, 255 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 7.

The "Badger" technique occurs when a law enforcement officer concludes a traffic stop and essentially releases the driver, indicating in some manner that the driver may leave. However, nearly immediately after indicating to the driver that the stop is concluded and before the driver can leave the scene, the officer asks a follow-up question, normally about contraband, then asks the driver for consent to search the vehicle. Our chief justice opined that such a stop "obviously takes advantage of the fact that motorists think that they are obliged to answer questions and not leave the scene." The terminology is no longer in use.

*State v. Hartwig,* 2007 WI App 160, n.4, 302 Wis. 2d 678, 735 N.W.2d 597 (citations omitted).

In a Badger Stop, the officer attempts to get consent to search the vehicle after the purpose of the stop has been effected and *without* any reasonable suspicion that further illegal activity is afoot. Here, Officer Ruffalo had reasonable suspicion to detain Floyd to investigate suspected drug activity. Thus, at the time the officer asked Floyd whether he would voluntarily consent to be searched, Floyd continued to be legally detained.

This court's decision in *Hartwig* is more closely applicable to this case than *Jones* and *Luebeck*. In *Hartwig*, this court confirmed that a defendant could voluntarily give consent to law enforcement even while in custody. *Hartwig*, 302 Wis. 2d 678, ¶¶ 13-14. The court clarified that the issue in *Jones* was whether the defendant had been legally seized; not whether the consent to search was voluntary.

Read alone, this paragraph [in *Jones*] seems to suggest one cannot give valid consent if one is seized by or in custody of law enforcement at the time of granting consent. However, such a reading ignores the remainder of the *Jones* opinion and runs afoul of longstanding precedent that "the fact of custody alone has never been enough in itself to demonstrate a coerced ... consent to search."

The question in *Jones* was not about voluntariness of consent, but whether the defendant was lawfully seized under the Fourth Amendment when he consented to a search. Lawful seizure is necessary because "a search authorized by consent is wholly valid *unless* that consent is given while an individual is illegally seized."

Hartwig, 302 Wis. 2d 678, ¶¶ 10-11 (citations omitted).

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